STATE OF MICHIGAN
SUPREME COURT
On Appeal from Michigan Court of Appeals

PAULETTE STENZEL,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

Supreme Court No. 156262
Court of Appeals Docket No. 328804

v.

Ingham Co. Cir. Ct.
Case No. 14-000527-NO

BEST BUY CO., INC.,
Defendant

and

SAMSUNG ELECTRONICS
AMERICA, INC.
Defendant-Appellant.

Lawrence P. Nolan (P25908)
Gary G Villas (P43399)
Nolan, Thomsen & Villas, P.C.
Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellee
239 S. Main St.
Eaton Rapids, MI 48227
(517) 663-3306
Boardmem15@aol.com

Paul L. Nystrom (P57067)
Jill M. Wheaton (P49921)
Dykema Gossett PLLC
Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant Samsung
Electronics America, Inc.
39577 Woodward Ave., Ste. 300
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to MCR 7.303(B)(1). On December 22, 2016, the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion affirming the grant of summary disposition to Defendant-Appellant Samsung Electronics America, Inc. (“SEA”). (Joint Appendix (“JA”) 219a-226a.) On January 17, 2017, the Court of Appeals entered an order vacating Part II(C) of its December 22, 2016 opinion and convening a special panel to resolve a conflict between its decision in this case and *Williams v Arbor Home, Inc*, 254 Mich App 439; 656 NW2d 873 (2002). (JA 227a.) On June 27, 2017, the special panel of the Court of Appeals issued a majority opinion and a concurrence, reversing the grant of summary disposition to SEA. (JA 228a-242a.) On August, 8, 2017, SEA timely applied to this Court for leave to appeal. On April 4, 2018, this Court issued an order granting SEA’s application.

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

After Defendant Best Buy Co., Inc. (“Best Buy”) filed a notice of nonparty fault in this personal injury action, identifying SEA, Plaintiff filed a first amended complaint adding SEA as a Defendant. By that time, the statute of limitations for a claim against SEA had long expired. The Circuit Court held that because Plaintiff had not filed a motion for leave to amend her complaint, as required by MCL 600.2957(2), the claim was time barred, and granted summary disposition to SEA. The Court of Appeals affirmed. A special panel was then called, which reversed, and held that: there is a conflict between MCL 600.2957(2) and MCR 2.112(K)(4); the court rule, which does not require the filing of a motion for leave to amend a complaint after the filing of a notice of nonparty fault, controls; and the relation back provision of the statute applied to cause the amended complaint to relate back to the original filing date even though the amended complaint was filed without a motion for leave to amend.

Should this Court reverse the special panel’s decision where:

- a. The special panel erred in finding a conflict between MCL 600.2957(2) and MCR 2.112(K)(4), and even if there was a conflict, the statute would trump and its provisions would govern;
- b. The special panel erred in holding that a plaintiff may amend a complaint upon receipt of a notice of nonparty fault without first filing a motion to amend; and
- c. The special panel erred in finding that the relation-back provision in the statute always applies, even if a complaint is amended without filing a motion?

Defendant-Appellant SEA answers:	“Yes”
Plaintiff-Appellee Paulette Stenzel would answer:	“No”
The Circuit Court would answer:	“Yes”
The Court of Appeals would answer:	“No”
This Court should answer:	“Yes”

INTRODUCTION

This case involves statutory interpretation and separation of powers issues in connection with the relationship between a statute and a court rule, specifically, MCL 600.2957(2) and MCR 2.112(K)(4). Both help to implement the comprehensive statutory scheme that replaced joint and several liability with a system for allocating fault among multiple tortfeasors. Both permit a plaintiff—under certain conditions—to amend a complaint to add an entity that was identified as a nonparty at fault. Where they differ is that MCL 600.2957(2) provides that a motion to amend must be filed within 91 days of the identification of the nonparty, and such an amended complaint will relate back to the date the original complaint was filed. MCR 2.112(K)(4), on the other hand, does not expressly require that a motion to amend be filed, nor does it address relation back. These differences have raised questions over the years.

The Court of Appeals in *Williams v Arbor Home, Inc*, 254 Mich App 439; 656 NW2d 873 (2002) properly concluded that there is not an irreconcilable conflict between the two because the statute plainly requires a plaintiff to file a motion to amend a complaint to add an entity identified in a notice of nonparty fault, whereas the court rule says nothing on the subject, therefore, motions for leave to amend are always required. 254 Mich App at 443. The original Court of Appeals panel in our case reluctantly followed *Williams* and affirmed the dismissal of the claims against SEA as time barred, because they were added without a motion having been filed. The Court of Appeals then convened a special panel (consisting of Judges Servitto, Murphy, Cavanagh, Fort Hood, Borrello, Gleicher, and Shapiro) to revisit *Williams*. The special panel first concluded that this Court, by not mentioning anything about seeking leave to amend in the court rule, intended to supersede that statutory requirement and make it an amendment of right. The panel then found that abrogating the Motion requirement was this Court's prerogative under separation of powers principles. The panel then addressed the relation back issue,

concluding peremptorily that the relation-back provision in the statute remains valid and always applies, regardless of whether or not a motion for leave to amend was filed.

The special panel erred. First, the panel ignored the unambiguous plain language of both the statute and the court rule, which can be read in harmony with one another, and failed to give the clear and unambiguous statutory language its plain meaning, and enforce it as written. Second, the panel failed to apply the nuanced approach for determining the boundaries between legislative authority and judicial rulemaking authority under the separation of powers principles provided by this Court in *McDougall v Schanz*, 461 Mich 15, 30; 597 NW2d 148 (1999). In this case, even if there were a conflict between the court rule and the statute, the statute governs. Third, the panel erred in cherry picking from the court rule and the statute to create a new policy that allows the benefit of the statute—relation back—even if the requirements of the statute are not met. This Court should reverse and reinstate the Circuit Court’s order granting summary disposition to SEA.

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL PROCEEDINGS AND FACTS

I. FACTUAL HISTORY

Plaintiff purchased a Samsung refrigerator/freezer from Best Buy on May 21, 2011. (First Amended Complaint, ¶6, JA 62a.) The refrigerator was installed on May 31, 2011. (*Id.* at ¶7, JA 62a; Plaintiff’s Dep., p. 30, JA 153a.) Two days later Plaintiff determined that water was coming from the refrigerator’s water dispenser. (*Id.*, pp. 50-51, JA 158a) After trying unsuccessfully to stop it herself, she called Best Buy. (*Id.*, pp. 53, 55, JA 158a-159a.) Eventually, she shut off the water main in her home’s crawl space and set up a service appointment with Best Buy. (*Id.*, pp. 63-69, JA 161a-162a.) Plaintiff then proceeded to clean up the water that was on the floor. She “grabbed every towel in the house” and put them on the

floor. (*Id.*, pp. 69-70, JA 162a-163a.) She then took a laundry basket of wet towels outside to dry when she claims she slipped and fell. (*Id.*, p. 77, JA 164a.)

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. Circuit Court Proceedings

Two years and almost eleven months after the June 2, 2011 fall, on April 29, 2014, Plaintiff filed a complaint in Ingham County Circuit Court against Best Buy only, despite knowing who manufactured her refrigerator. On February 12, 2015, Best Buy attempted to file a notice of nonparty fault identifying SEA as the refrigerator manufacturer. Best Buy's notice was not filed within 91 days after it filed its Answer, as required by MCR 2.112(K)(3)(c). Therefore, on March 16, 2015, Best Buy filed a motion for leave to file the notice of nonparty fault. (JA 3a-8a.) Plaintiff opposed the Motion, arguing she would be prejudiced by the notice because the three year statute of limitations had expired against SEA, and she therefore could no longer add claims against SEA. (Plaintiff's Brief in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Leave to File Notice of Nonparty at Fault, JA 13a-15a.) Best Buy's motion was granted. (April 20, 2015 Order, JA 54a-55a.) However, Best Buy did not file a notice of nonparty fault after the court granted its Motion, apparently relying on the previous (and untimely) notice.

In the meantime, on February 27, 2015, Best Buy moved for summary disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(10), on the grounds that Plaintiff failed to establish causation. The Circuit Court granted Best Buy's motion, holding that Plaintiff could not establish that either the refrigerator or its installation were the proximate cause of her injuries. (April 8, 2015 Transcript, p. 17, JA 53a.) On May 11, 2015, after the court had ruled from the bench that it would dismiss Plaintiff's claims but before its order to that effect had been entered; almost 3 months after the February 12, 2015 notice of nonparty fault was untimely filed by Best Buy (without a notice ever filed after

the court granted leave for same); and three years and eleven months after her alleged fall, Plaintiff filed a First Amended Complaint. The Amended Complaint continued to assert claims against Best Buy (despite the earlier ruling from the bench), and added SEA as a defendant. (First Amended Complaint, JA 56a-75a.) Against SEA, Plaintiff asserted claims for negligence, breach of express and implied warranties, and failure to warn. Most significantly, Plaintiff did not seek leave from the court before filing the First Amended Complaint.

In response, SEA filed a Motion for Summary Disposition under MCR 2.116(C)(7) and (10). (SEA's Motion for Summary Disposition, JA 76a-113a.) SEA argued that the claims against it were time-barred—the First Amended Complaint did not relate back to the date of filing of the original complaint because under MCL 600.2957(2), a complaint that is amended following the filing of a notice of nonparty fault only relates back if the plaintiff moved for leave to amend, which Plaintiff did not do.¹ SEA relied on *Barnes v USAA Cas Ins Co*, unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, issued Oct. 21, 2014 (Docket No. 316729)², which held that an amended complaint adding a party identified in a notice of non-party fault only relates back to the date of filing of the original complaint if it was amended pursuant to a motion, as required by the statute. Plaintiff filed a response (Plaintiff's Response to SEA's Motion for Summary Disposition, JA 114a-209a), arguing that under *Bint v Doe*, 274 Mich App 232; 732 NW2d 156 (2008), because the court allowed the late filing of a notice of non-party fault, she was entitled under MCR 2.112(K) to amend her complaint to add SEA as a defendant.

¹ Although no longer relevant to this appeal, SEA also argued that even if the Amended Complaint was timely, Plaintiff could not establish proximate cause against SEA because: she did not know whether water from the refrigerator caused her fall; her alleged injuries were unforeseeable and too far removed from the alleged defect; and the court had already held, in connection with Best Buy's motion, that Plaintiff could not establish that an alleged defect in the refrigerator was the proximate cause of her injuries.

² Attached as Ex. A.

Oral argument was held at which the court first noted that “this case has been hanging around for four years. They’re [SEA] an absolute known party, no secret about it, we have Best Buy but I threw them out a long time ago....The statute of limitations is three years.” (July 22, 2015 Transcript, p. 13, JA 214a.) The court continued:

Samsung was a party that could have been noticed from the beginning and should have been added. It was completely foreseeable that when you have a suit like this you add in everybody and dismiss them later. You don’t do it backwards like this....[W]e’re trying to add and relate back and I’m not going to do, to disregard the wisdom of the Court of Appeals in *Barnes*. It is very instructive. It’s almost identical to this case.

(*Id.*, pp. 15-16, JA 214a.) An order granting SEA’s Motion and dismissing the First Amended Complaint was entered on July 27, 2015. (July 27, 2015 Order, JA 216a-218a.) The trial court relied primarily on the expiration of the statute of limitations as the justification for summary disposition, but clarified that the motion was granted on lack of proximate cause as an alternative ground. (July 22, 2015 Transcript, pp. 17-18, 215a.)

B. Court of Appeals I (original panel)

Plaintiff appealed. On December 22, 2016, a panel (Judges M. Kelley, O’Connell, and Beckering) issued a published opinion affirming the grant of summary disposition to SEA (on statute of limitations grounds) and reversing the grant of summary disposition for Best Buy (on causation grounds). The panel addressed causation first, holding that the trial court erred when it found a lack of factual cause or legal cause against both Defendants. (Original Panel Opinion, pp. 2-3, JA 220a-221a.) Turning to the statute of limitations issue (as to SEA only), the panel first compared MCL 600.2957(2)³ with MCR 2.112(K)(4)⁴ and concluded that unlike the statute,

³ MCL 600.2957(2) provides:

Upon motion of a party within 91 days after identification of a nonparty, the court shall grant leave to the moving party to file and serve an amended pleading alleging 1 or more causes of action against that nonparty. A cause of action added under this subsection is not barred by

the court rule does not require leave of court to file an amended complaint adding a nonparty identified in a notice of fault, if the amended complaint is filed within 91 days of the notice identifying the nonparty. (*Id.*, p. 5, JA 223a.) And the panel noted that unlike the statute, the court rule does not provide that the amended complaint will relate back to the date of the original complaint. (*Id.*) The panel then held that this case is controlled by *Williams v Arbor Home*, which held that “reading the court rule and the statute in conjunction, we conclude that leave of the court is indeed required before an amended pleading adding a nonparty becomes effective.” (*Id.*)

The panel—which included Judge O’Connell—went on to state that “were we not bound by *Williams*, we would follow the reasoning of Judge O’Connell in his partial dissent” in that case. (*Id.*) Per the panel, Judge O’Connell’s dissent noted that the court rule and statute were in conflict and in such a case, the court rule controls as it is a matter of procedure. He also was concerned with potential malpractice claims for filing amended complaints without permission of the court. (*Id.*, p. 6, JA 224a.) The panel then stated, “following that approach, we would conclude that because [Plaintiff] followed the requirements set forth in MCR 2.112(K)(4), she properly added Samsung as a party and her amended complaint was timely because it related back to the date of her original complaint.” (*Id.*, p. 7, JA 225a.) The panel said it was affirming the grant of summary disposition to SEA only because it was bound to do so by *Williams* and asked the Court of Appeals to convene a special panel. (*Id.*, p. 8, JA 226a.)

a period of limitation unless the cause of action would have been barred by a period of limitation at the time of the filing of the original action.

⁴ MCR 2.112(K)(4) provides:

A party served with a notice under this subrule may file an amended pleading stating a claim or claims against the nonparty within 91 days of service of the first notice identifying that nonparty. The court may permit later amendment as provided in MCR 2.118.

On January 17, 2017, the Court of Appeals entered an order vacating Part II(C) of the December 22, 2016 opinion—the part reluctantly affirming the ruling that Plaintiff’s claim against SEA was time-barred—and convened a special panel to resolve the conflict with *Williams*. (JA 227a.)

C. Court of Appeals II (special panel)

On June 27, 2017, a special panel of the Court of Appeals issued an opinion and concurrence. The majority opinion (Judges Murphy, Cavanagh, Fort Hood, and Borrello) held that MCL 600.2957(2) and MCR 2.112(K)(4) conflict on a matter of procedure regarding whether leave of court is required to file an amended complaint to add a nonparty. (Special Panel Opinion, pp. 6-7, JA 233a-234a.) According to the panel, in creating the court rule this Court “intended to alter or streamline the process outlined by the Legislature” by allowing a party to timely file an amended pleading as a matter of course without seeking leave of court. (*Id.*, p. 1, JA 228a.) The majority further held that this Court was constitutionally empowered to modify the statutory requirement to seek leave to amend because the requirement was “purely an issue of practice and procedure” that fell within the “exclusive province of our Supreme Court.” (*Id.*, p. 8, JA 235a.) Lastly, the majority held that the relation-back provision in the statute is fully applicable despite the panel’s abrogation of the statutory requirement to seek leave to amend. (*Id.*, pp. 8-9, JA 235a-236a.) The majority reasoned that the legislative intent behind the relation-back provision was to allow a party to add an identified nonparty to a complaint “in all instances if done so timely,” and that this Court—when drafting the court rule—“intended to provide assistance and details in implementing MCL 600.2957(2) where needed, not to nullify by silence the Legislature’s clear desire to allow the relation back of an amended pleading for purposes of a given period of limitations.” (*Id.*, p. 9, JA 236a.) In other words, the special panel majority held that regardless of the language of the statute, the court rule prevails and motions

are not required to have an amended complaint that adds an entity identified in a notice of nonparty fault relate back to the date of the filing of the original complaint, despite the lack of any statement regarding relation back in the court rule.

A concurrence (Judge Gleicher, joined by Servitto and Shapiro) disagreed with the majority regarding the existence of a conflict. (Special Panel Concurrence, p. 1, JA 238a.) Instead, the concurrence concluded that the statute simply clarifies that if a plaintiff elects to seek leave of court to timely amend, the court must allow the amendment, and it therefore leaves a choice to plaintiffs—to file a motion or not to file a motion. (*Id.*, pp. 2-3, JA 239a-240a.) In the eyes of the concurrence, the statute and the court rule are “entirely consistent with regard to the central and controlling issue: a plaintiff’s right to timely amend a complaint to add an identified nonparty at fault as a party.” (*Id.*, p. 3, JA 240a.) As for relation back, the concurrence came to a similar conclusion as the majority by finding that the Legislature intended to provide relation back for “timely added nonparties at fault,” and the court rule’s silence regarding relation back does not present a conflict. (*Id.*, pp. 4-5, JA 241a-242a.) It also noted that a “separate court rule,” MCR 2.118(D), addresses relation back, and provides that “an amendment that adds a claim or defense relates back to the date of the original pleading if the claim or defense in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set forth...in the original pleading.” (*Id.*, p. 2, JA 239a.) Although the concurrence admitted, in a footnote, that this Court held in *Miller v Chapman Contracting*, 477 Mich 102, 106; 730 NW2d 462 (2007) that the relation back rule in MCR 2.118(D) does not apply to the addition of new parties. Despite this, the concurrence concluded that to not apply relation back to amended complaints filed by right, without a motion, would be contrary to the Legislative intent. (*Id.*, p. 5, n. 2., JA 242a.)

D. Application to this Court

SEA filed an application for leave to appeal to this Court. This Court granted leave, directing the parties to brief the following issues:

- (1) Whether the Court of Appeals special panel correctly held that there is a conflict between MCL 600.2957(2) and MCR 2.112(K);
- (2) Whether, in any event, a party may amend a complaint upon receipt of a notice of nonparty fault without first filing a motion to amend; and
- (3) If so, whether the amendment relates back to the date the complaint was filed.

(April 4, 2018 Order, JA 243a.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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