STATE of MICHIGAN  
in the MICHIGAN SUPREME COURT

---

**PAULETTE STENZEL,**

Plaintiff/Appellee,

v

**BEST BUY CO., INC.** a Foreign  
Corporation for Profit and **SAMSUNG  
ELECTRONICS AMERICA, INC.** a  
Foreign Corporation, for Profit,

Defendants/Appellants.

Supreme Court No. 156262  
Court of Appeals No. 328804

Lower Court No. 14-000427-NO  
Honorable Rosemarie Aquilina

---

**LAWRENCE P. NOLAN (P25908)**  
**NOLAN, THOMSEN & VILLAS, P.C.**  
Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellee  
239 S. Main Street  
Eaton Rapids, Michigan 48827  
Telephone: (517) 663-3306

---

**PAUL E. TOWER (P49151)**  
**CARYN A. FORD (P69590)**  
**GARAN LUCOW MILLER, P.C.**

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

**LAW and ARGUMENT**

**I. THE COURT OF APPEALS SPECIAL PANEL CORRECTLY HELD THAT THERE IS A CONFLICT BETWEEN MCL 600.2957(2) AND MCR 2.112(K)**

**Appellate Standard of Review**

The Michigan Supreme Court reviews a trial court's decision regarding a motion for summary disposition de novo. *Dressel v Ameribank*, 468 Mich 557, 561; 664 NW2d 151 (2003). They review issues of statutory interpretation de novo. *Fisher v Fisher*, 276 Mich App 424, 427; 741 NW2d 68 (2007).

They review de novo issues concerning the interpretation of statutes and court rules, *Estes v Titus*, 481 Mich 573, 578-579; 751 NW2d 493 (2008), and questions regarding whether an action is barred by a period of limitations, *Caron v Cranbrook Ed Community*, 298 Mich App 629, 635; 828 NW2d 99 (2012).

**THERE IS A CONFLICT BETWEEN MCL 600.2957(2) AND MCR 2.112(K)**

The majority response of the Court of Appeals Special Panel held that there existed a conflict on a matter of procedure between the provisions of the court rule and the statute. The conflict is relative to whether a party must file a motion for leave to amend a pleading to add an identified Non-Party at Fault to an action, as provided by MCL 600.2957(2), or whether a party can simply file an amended pleading as a matter of course or right, as provided by MCR 2.112(K)(4). (Joint Appendix p. 228a, Court of Appeals' Special Panel Decision).

“When called upon to interpret and apply a court rule, this Court applies the

principles that govern statutory interpretation. *Haliw v Sterling Hts*, 471 Mich 700, 704-705; 691 NW2d 753 (2005); see also *Fleet Business Credit, LLC v Krapohl Ford Lincoln Mercury Co*, 274 Mich App 584, 591; 735 NW2d 644 (2007). “Court rules should be interpreted to effect the intent of the drafter, the Michigan Supreme Court.” *Fleet Business*, 274 Mich App at 591. Clear and unambiguous language contained in a court rule must be given its plain meaning and is enforced as written. *Id.*

“To determine whether there is a real conflict between a statute and a court rule, both are read according to their plain meaning.” *Staff v Johnson*, 242 Mich App 521, 530; 619 NW2d 57 (2000).” (Joint Appendix p. 233a, Court of Appeals’ Special Panel Decision).

The Special Panel of the Court of Appeals in determining that there was a conflict between the Court Rule and the Statute held as follows:

“ [t]he Supreme Court appreciated that the statute only speaks of amendment of a pleading by way of motion and leave granted, certainly realizing that the procedure is unnecessarily cumbersome and not conducive to judicial expediency and efficiency because a trial court, ultimately, has no discretion whatsoever in its ruling and is required to grant leave without exception.

In our view, it would defy logic not to recognize or conclude that our Supreme Court, understanding the procedural difference between amendment by right and amendment by leave, intentionally deviated from the statutory language in order to streamline and simplify the process, allowing a party as a matter of right or course to amend a pleading within the 91-day period. The Supreme Court plainly did not deviate from the statutory language unwittingly or inadvertently. While there is no conflict between MCR 2.112(K)(4) and MCL 600.2957(2) with respect to the substantive principle and intended outcome that a party will, in fact, be given an opportunity to pursue and litigate an amended pleading, if done in

timely fashion, there is a conflict concerning the amendment procedure itself. Although the conflict might be deemed hyper-technical, it is nonetheless a conflict because the Legislature only contemplated amendment by leave and our Supreme Court called for amendment as a matter of course or right.” (Joint Appendix p. 234a, Court of Appeals’ Special Panel Decision).

In *Williams v Arbor Home, Inc*, 254 Mich App 439; 656 NW2d 873 (2002) the Court of Appeals held that there was no conflict between the provisions of MCL 600.2957(2) and MCR 2.112(K)(4) regarding the filing of an Amended Complaint naming a Non-Party at Fault. The *Williams* Court rejected the plaintiff’s argument that the court rule and statute are in conflict and that the court rule should therefore prevail. Instead, the Court adopted the defendant’s argument that the statute merely includes more detail than does the court rule. Reading the statute and court rule together, the Court held that a defendant is required to file a motion and obtain leave of the court before filing an Amended Complaint naming a party identified in a Notice of Non-Party at Fault.

The *Williams* Court’s opinion, respectfully erred because there is a conflict between the court rule and the statute; the court rule does not require a Motion prior to the filing of an Amended Complaint and the court rule does. The *Williams* Court failed to follow the precedent of the Court of Appeals case of *Staff v Johnson*, 242 Mich App 521; 619 NW2d 57 (2000) which held that there was a conflict. The *Staff* Court went on to hold that:

“When resolving a conflict between a statute and a court rule, the court rule prevails if it governs practice and procedure. *People v Strong*, 213 Mich App 107, 112; 539 NW2d 736 (1995). The Supreme Court is given exclusive rulemaking authority in matters of

practice and procedure. Const 1963, art 6, § 5; *McDougall v Schanz*, 461 Mich 15, 26; 597 NW2d 148 (1999). See also MCR 1.104 ("Rules of practice set forth in any statute, if not in conflict with any of these rules [the court rules], are effective until superseded by rules adopted by the Supreme Court.")” *Staff* at 530-531.

However, the Staff Comment to the 1997 Amendment of MCR 2.112(K) clearly indicates that the amendment to the Court Rule by the Supreme Court was a procedural implement to MCL 600.2957 for the identifying and adding parties. This staff comment reads as follows:

**“Staff Comment to 1997 Amendment**

The November 6 amendment of MCR 2.112, relates to statutory changes made by 1995 PA 161 and 1995 PA 249.

New MCR 2.112(K) **governs the procedure for identifying non parties** whose conduct is claimed to be a cause of the injury, **and for adding them** as parties. See MCL 600.2957 and MCL 600.6304.” (Emphasis added).

The Court Rule MCR 2.112(K) references this statute and procedurally permits a plaintiff to add a non-party within 91 days after their identification *without* the need of a motion. This makes sense because the statute makes clear that once the party moves for leave to amend (which the non-party will have no notice of) the Court has no discretion to deny the leave to amend. The Supreme Court in implementing the procedure of MCR 2.112(K) was preserving judicial economy and minimizing the costs of the parties.

Moreover, Michigan courts have traditionally held that “statutes of limitations are regarded as procedural, not substantive, in nature.” *Lothian v City of Detroit*, 414 Mich 160, 166; 324 NW2d 9, 13 (1982). In the Michigan Supreme Court's case of *Gladych v*

*New Family Homes*, 468 Mich 594; 644 NW2d 705 (2003), the Court addressed a conflict between a court rule and a statute regarding statutes of limitations. *Id.* at 600. The Court explained that if a statute concerns a matter that is “purely procedural and pertains only to the administration of the courts,” the court rule controls. *Id.* If, however, the statute concerns “a principle of public policy, having as its basis something other than court administration,” the statute controls. *Id.*

Michigan Court of Appeals’ decisions issued after *Gladych* have found that statutes of limitations are procedural in nature. See *Davis v State Employees’ Ret. Bd.*, 272 Mich App 151, 160; 725 NW2d 56, 62 (2006) (“In a general sense, statutes of limitations are regarded as procedural in nature.”); *Hatcher v State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins.*, 269 Mich App 596, 605; 712 NW2d 744, 750 (2005) (noting that “[a] statute of limitations is a procedural, not substantive, rule”). See also, *Forest v Parmalee*, 402 Mich 348, 359; 262 NW2d 653 (1978); and *Buscaino v Rhodes*, 385 Mich 474; 189 NW2d 202 (1971).

Accordingly, the majority opinion of the Special Panel of the Court of Appeals correctly held that there was a procedural conflict between MCR 2.112(K)(4) and MCL 600.2957(2).

Alternately, the minority opinion of the Special Panel of the Court of Appeals comes to the conclusion that there is no conflict between the statute and the court rule, that the Plaintiff may amend her Complaint pursuant to the court rule, and that the



amended complaint is not barred by the statute of limitations citing *Bint v Doe*, 274 Mich App 232; 732 NW2d 156 (2007). (Joint Appendix p. 240a, Court of Appeals' Special Panel Minority Decision).

**II. THE SPECIAL PANEL OF THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY HELD THAT A PARTY MAY AMEND A COMPLAINT UPON RECEIPT OF A NOTICE OF NONPARTY FAULT WITHOUT FIRST FILING A MOTION TO AMEND**

**Appellate Standard of Review**

This Court reviews de novo issues concerning the interpretation of statutes and court rules, *Estes v Titus*, 481 Mich 573, 578-579; 751 NW2d 493 (2008), and questions regarding whether an action is barred by a period of limitations, *Caron v Cranbrook Ed Community*, 298 Mich App 629, 635; 828 NW2d 99 (2012).

**A PARTY MAY AMEND A COMPLAINT UPON RECEIPT OF A NOTICE OF NON-PARTY AT FAULT WITHOUT FIRST FILING A MOTION TO AMEND**

The Special Panel of the Court of Appeals held that the Plaintiff in this case may file a Complaint without filing a motion to amend pursuant to MCR 2.114(K)(4):

“[w]hether the Supreme Court had the authority to override or supersede the Legislature and modify and simplify the amendment process. This is not a difficult question to resolve. Again, the Michigan Constitution, art 6, §5, provides that ‘[t]he supreme court shall by general rules establish, modify, amend and simplify the practice and procedure in all courts of this state,’ and MCR 1.104 states that statutory rules of practice ‘are effective until superseded by rules adopted by the Supreme Court.’ In general, when a court rule conflicts with a statute, the court rule controls when the matter pertains to practice and procedure, but the statute prevails if the matter concerns substantive law. *People v McGuffey*, 251 Mich App 155, 165; 649 NW2d 801 (2002).

\* \* \*

It is beyond rational argument that the question whether a pleading can be amended as a matter of course or right or whether a motion for leave to amend must be filed is indeed purely an issue of practice and procedure, falling within the exclusive province of our Supreme Court. The matter does not concern substantive law. It was well within the realm of the Supreme Court's authority to alter the amendment procedure enacted by the Legislature. Accordingly, the procedure set forth in MCR 2.112(K)(4) governs, and plaintiff proceeded properly in timely filing an amended complaint against Samsung absent the need to file a motion for leave to amend." (Joint Appendix pp. 234a-235a, Court of Appeals' Special Panel Decision).

The *Staff* Court went on to hold that:

"When resolving a conflict between a statute and a court rule, the court rule prevails if it governs practice and procedure. *People v Strong*, 213 Mich App 107, 112; 539 NW2d 736 (1995). The Supreme Court is given exclusive rulemaking authority in matters of practice and procedure. Const 1963, art 6, §5; *McDougall v Schanz*, 461 Mich 15, 26; 597 NW2d 148 (1999). See also MCR 1.104 ("Rules of practice set forth in any statute, if not in conflict with any of these rules [the court rules], are effective until superseded by rules adopted by the Supreme Court.")" *Staff* at 530-531.

As stated above, the Staff Comment to the 1997 Amendment of MCR 2.112(K) clearly indicates that the amendment to the Court Rule by the Supreme Court was a procedural implement to MCL 600.2957 for the identifying and adding parties. This staff comment reads as follows:

**"Staff Comment to 1997 Amendment**

The November 6 amendment of MCR 2.112, relates to statutory changes made by 1995 PA 161 and 1995 PA 249.

New MCR 2.112(K) **governs the procedure for identifying non parties** whose conduct is claimed to be a cause of the injury, **and for adding them** as parties. See MCL 600.2957 and MCL 600.6304." (Emphasis added).

The Court Rule MCR 2.112(K) references this statute and procedurally permits a plaintiff to add a Non-Party at Fault within 91 days after their identification *without* the

need of a motion. This makes sense because the statute makes clear that once the party moves for leave to amend (which the non-party will have no notice of) the Court has no discretion to deny the leave to amend. The Supreme Court in implementing the procedure of MCR 2.112(K) was preserving judicial economy and minimizing the costs of the parties.

Accordingly, the majority holding of the Special Panel of the Court of Appeal's opinion that a party may amend a complaint upon receipt of a notice of nonparty fault without first filing a motion to amend was correct.

### **III. THE PLAINTIFF'S AMENDED COMPLAINT RELATES BACK TO THE DATE THE ORIGINAL COMPLAINT WAS FILED**

#### **Appellate Standard of Review**

This Court reviews de novo issues concerning the interpretation of statutes and court rules, *Estes v Titus*, 481 Mich 573, 578-579; 751 NW2d 493 (2008), and questions regarding whether an action is barred by a period of limitations, *Caron v Cranbrook Ed Community*, 298 Mich App 629, 635; 828 NW2d 99 (2012).

#### **The Plaintiff's Amended Complaint Relates Back to the Date the Original Complaint Was Filed**

Michigan courts have traditionally held that "statutes of limitations are regarded as procedural, not substantive, in nature." *Lothian v City of Detroit*, 414 Mich 160, 166; 324 NW2d 9, 13 (1982). In the Michigan Supreme Court's case of *Gladych v New Family Homes*, 468 Mich 594; 644 NW2d 705 (2003), the Court addressed a conflict between a court rule and a statute regarding statutes of limitations. *Id.* at 600. The Court explained

that if a statute concerns a matter that is “purely procedural and pertains only to the administration of the courts,” the court rule controls. *Id.* If, however, the statute concerns “a principle of public policy, having as its basis something other than court administration,” the statute controls. *Id.*

Michigan Court of Appeals’ decisions issued after *Gladych* have found that statutes of limitations are procedural in nature. See *Davis v State Employees’ Ret. Bd.*, 272 Mich App 151, 160; 725 NW2d 56, 62 (2006) (“In a general sense, statutes of limitations are regarded as procedural in nature.”); *Hatcher v State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins.*, 269 Mich App 596, 605; 712 NW2d 744, 750 (2005) (noting that “[a] statute of limitations is a procedural, not substantive, rule”). See also, *Forest v Parmalee*, 402 Mich 348, 359; 262 NW2d 653 (1978); and *Buscaino v Rhodes*, 385 Mich 474; 189 NW2d 202 (1971).

The majority Opinion of the Special Panel recognized that amendment by leave and amendment by right are two separate and distinct procedural mechanisms.

They also recognized that the Michigan Supreme Court, has exclusive authority with respect to all aspects of the court rules and procedure, Const 1963, art 6, §5.

MCL 600.2957(2), makes no mention of allowing or authorizing a party to file an amended pleading as a matter of right or within the 91-day window following identification of a Non-Party at Fault. It instead allows amendment by the filing of a motion for leave to amend which the court must grant.

This mechanism was characterized by the Special Panel as, “wasteful in regard to

time, energy, and resources, as to both the courts and litigants.” (Joint Appendix p. 233a, Court of Appeals’ Special Panel Decision).

The Special Panel held that there was no conflict between MCR 2.112(K)(4) and MCL 600.2957(2) with respect to the substantive principle and intended outcome that a party will, in fact, be given an opportunity to pursue and litigate an amended pleading. (Joint Appendix p. 233a, Court of Appeals’ Special Panel Decision).

The Michigan Constitution, art 6, §5, provides that “[t]he supreme court shall by general rules establish, modify, amend and simplify the practice and procedure in all courts of this state[,]” and MCR 1.104 states that statutory rules of practice “are effective until superseded by rules adopted by the Supreme Court.” In general, when a court rule conflicts with a statute, the court rule controls when the matter pertains to practice and procedure, but the statute prevails if the matter concerns substantive law. *People v McGuffey*, 251 Mich App 155, 165; 649 NW2d 801 (2002). The Special Panel held that the amendment of the complaint was a matter of procedure. (Joint Appendix p. 234a, Court of Appeals’ Special Panel Decision).

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